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IN THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT X
FOR THE NORTHERN DISTRICT OF GEORGI

JAMES N. N, Clerk
ATLANTA DIVISION z}f% APt B

Daputy Clark

MAID OF THE MIST CORPORATION
and MAID QF THE MIST STEAMRBCAT i
COMPANY, LTD., i

Plaintiffs :
V. ' CIVIL ACTION NO.
| 1:06-CV-714-ODE

ALCATRAZ MEDTA, LLC, ALCATRAZ
MEDIA, INC., and WILLIAM M,
WINDSOR,

Defeandants

CRDER

This civil suit for injunctive relief is before the Court on
Defendants’ Motion for Summary Judgment (#146], Plaintiffs’ Moticon
for Summary Judgment [#148], Defendants’ Reguest for a Hearing
[(#223], Plaintiffs’ Motion to Strike [#237], Defendants’ Motion
for Leave to File [#241], Defendants’ Mobtion for Clarification and
te Strike {#243), and Plaintiffs' Motion to Strike Affidavit
[#250] .

The parties to this action established a relationship io 2004
whereby Plaintiffs Maid of the Mist Corporation and Maid of the
Mist Steamboat Company, Ltd. (hereinafter collectively referred to
ag "Maid" or “Flaintiffs”) authorized Defendants Alcatraz Media,
LLC, Alcatraz Media, Inc. (hereinafter collectively referred to as

" "loatraz")?! to gell individual wvouchers for tickets to ride Maid

‘Although only Alcatraz Media, LLC was involved in some of
the alleged conduct, the Court will refer to the entities
collectively for simplicity and because the Order applieg to both
entities.




! Hostgd on www.iptrademarkattorney.com

of the Mist's Niagara Falls beats on their website, The
relationship deteriorated after the inception of the 2005 Maid of
the Mist seascn and Maid eventually notified Alcatraz that it
would no longer henor Alcatraz vouchers after July 29, 2005,
Alcatraz's decisicon to continue selling individual vouchers after
July 29, 2005 despite the notice from Maid that those vouchers
would not be honored gave rise to the instant tortiocus
interference with business relations action. Maid seekz a
permanent injunction against Alcatraz's future s=ale of Maid
vouchers as well as attorney’s fees and costa.

Alcatraz contends that it is entitled to summary judgment on
Maid’s tortious interference with business relaticons claim bacause
Maid camnnot establish that Alcatraz induced any potential Maid
customers to diecontinue or £fail to enter intoe a buginess
relaticonship with Maid. Rlcatraz alse contends that Maid hasg
suffered no financial injury as a result of Alcatraz's actions.

Maid asserts that it is entitled to summary judgment because
Aleatrazr torticusly interfered in Maid's business relationship
with its customers by continuing to sell Maid vouchers after July
29, 2005, Maid also seeks summary judgment with reaspect to
Alcatraz’s counterclaims alleging promissory estoppel, breach of
contract, slander, and viclation of the Georgia Fair Business
Practices Act.

For the following reasong, Defendants’ Motion for Summary
Judgment [#146] 1z DENIED. Plaintiffs’ Motion for Summary
Judgment {#148] is GRANTED. Defendants’ Reguest for a Hearing

[#223] 1= DENIED. Plaintiffs® Motion to Strike [#237) 1is

DISMISSED &5 MOOT. Defendantsa' Motion for Leave to File [#241]
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and Mcocticon for Clarification and to Strike [#243)] are DISMISSED AS
MOOT. Likewise, Plaintiffs’ Meotion to Strike Affidavit [42850] is

DISMISSED A5 MOOT.

. Factual and Progedural Backaground

Unless otherwize noted, the following facts are undisputed.?
Thke Court derives the facts from the evidence received upon
Plaintiffs’ application for a preliminary injunction along with

the parties’ pleadings, depositicns, and attachments and exhibite

*The Court finds that both parties have failed to comply with
N.D. Ga. Local Rule 56,1(B) (1), which states:

A movant for summary Jjudgment shall include wikh
the motion and brief a aseparate, concize, numbered
statement of the material facts to which the movant
contends there is no genuine issue to be tried.
Each material fact must be numbered separately and
supported by a citation to sevidence proving such
fact. The court will not consider any fact: (&) net
supported by a citation to evidence {including page
or paragraph number}; {b) supported by a citation
to a pleading rather than to evidence; (¢} stated
as an issue or legal conclusion; or {d] set out
only in the brief and net in the movant's statement
of undisputed facts.

Maid's Statems=nt of Undisputed Facts 1s replete with improper
citatiens to this Court's Order on Maid's motion for preliminary
injuncticn rather than to evidence in the reccerd. Alcatraz's
Statement of Undisputed Facta contains few facts and i1s little
more than a reactionary document listing the facts upon which
Alcatraz disagrees with Maid. HNonetheless, the Court finds that
it is possible to determine which facks are undisputed and haas
reconstructed the facts in this section of the order.

3
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thersto ?
Flaintiffs Maid of the Mist Corporation and Maid of the Mist
Steamboat Company, Limited, have operated boat tours in Niagara

Falls since 1846, Maid of the Mist =o0ld approximately 2.5 million

tickets for its tours during the 2005 season.

In 2005, Maid scld tickets for its tours in three wayas: (1)
individual *“walk-up” ticket purchases at Mald’'s box offices in
Niagara Falls, New ¥ork, and Niagara Falls, Ontaric; {2) wvouchers
available as part of a tour package scld by tour operators
authorized by Maid; and (2} indiwvidual vouchera available through
three internet resellers, specifically www.niagarafallstoura.net, i
www. looktours.com, and www.vacationemadseasy.com.

In 2005, if a customer purchased a voucher for a ride on one

of Maid’'s boats, the customer had to exchange that wvoucher for a

*In their Response to Maid’s Etatement <of Material Facts
(#221-2] Alcatraz repeatedly objects to Maid's reliance upon
exhibite and testimony presented during the preliminary injunction
hearing held before this Court on April 11, 200&. Specifically,
Alcatraz argues that “preliminary findings of fact are not
evidence nor binding on a decision on the merits.*” Defa. !
Response to Pls.® Statement of Material Facts at % 1. The Court
agrees with Alcatraz that Maid may not rely on findings of fact
froem the preliminary injunction phage as support for their motion
for summary Jjudgment. However, that does not mean thakt the
testimony and evidence pregented at the preliminary injunction
stage are not evidence that can be considered at the summary
judgment phase. Federal Rule of Civil Procedure &5(a) (2)
provides: ‘“any evidence recelved upon an application for a
preliminary injunction which would be admissible upon the trial on
the merits becomes part of the record on the trial and need not be
repeated upon the trial.” Accordingly, citatione to and quotations
from exhibits admitted as evidence at the preliminary injunction
hearing are properly considered at thie summary judgment phase if
they would also be admissible at a trial on the merits.

4




Hostgld on www.iptrademarkattorney.com

ticket at one of Maid’'s box offices to gain entry to the boat
ride. Maid tickets were issued on a “first-come-first-serva*
basis at the box office, whether customers purchased their ticketsg
at the box office or whether customers traded a pre-purchased
voucher for a ticket at the box cffice. Tickets were date-stamped
and could be used conly on the date they were stamped. Customers
could not make reservations for tours at a specific time.

Defendants Alcatraz Media, LLO, and Alcatraz Media, Inc.,
operate a  ticket brokerage business through a web sgite,
www . niagarafallstours,.net.? Defendant William Windsor (*Windsor")
iz the father of Alcatraz's owner and participates in the
management of Alcatraz.

In July 2004, Alcatraz applied te Maid for credit for the
purpose of selling individual wouchers for Maid tickets (as
oppoged to tour packages that include a weoucher) on its website.
Maid approved Alcatraz's credit application. Maid's letter

etated, in part:

Thank you for returning the application for credit., We
are pleased to offer your company credit with Maid of the
Mist.

We look ferward to zerving you and your clients this
cOoOmMing sSeason. ..

Windscr Dep., Ex. 3. This essentially eatablished a credit
arrangement under which customers could purchase wouchers from

Blcatraz and pay Alcatraz directly. Maid would charge Alcatraz

*plcatrasz and its affiliatezs operate =several websites in
addition to this cone, but www.niagarafallstours.net i1a the only
website relevant to the instant acticon and will be referred to as
Alcatraz's website.
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the net rate price® of $9%.65 for each adult wvoucher that was
redeemed at its box offices. During the 2005 season, the regular
price of an adult ticket for a Maid tour was $11.50.

2ccording to Defendants, in addition to the credit
arrangement described abowve, Alcatraz provided Maid with a gcredit
card authorization to assure that Maid would be paid for the
wvouchers Rlcatraz sold on its website. This meant that when an
Rlcatraz customer arrived at the Maid ticket booth with an
Alcatraz voucher, Maid either could charge Alcatraz’s credit card
for the customer’s tour ride ticket or could send Alcatraz an
invoice for that ticket and any others issued to Alcatraz
customers during the invoice period.

Maid entered intc gimilar arrangements with two other
~icket brokerage companies, www,vacationsmadeeasy.com as wall ae
www . looktours.com, for the sale of vouchers for rhe 2005 season.

Having established a relationship with Maid, Alcatraz began
" gelling individual vouchers for Maid of the Mist tickets for the
2005 seagon. Alecatraz charged $13.985 per adult wvoucher, $2.45
more than the retail price an adult would pay for a ticket at
Maid’'s box office and §4.30 more than the price Alcatraz paid Maid
| £oxr the voucher. According to Alcatraz, the price it charged for
Maid vouchers was calculated to cover costs such as the cost of
obtaining the vouchers from Maid, advertising, and paying service
charges to credit card companies, and aleso to allow Alcatraz to

" make a profit.

‘The net rate price represents a "wholesale'" discount from
Maid's retail rate of $11.50 and was available to other brokerage
companies and tour operators in addition to Alcatraz.

£
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The wmanner 1in which Alcatraz listed the price of Maid
vouchers on its website implied that Alcatraz was giving online
customers a discount. For example, at the beginning of the 2005
aeazon Alcatraz represented that the price of a voucher was $18.95
kut that website customers were eligible for a 55.00 internet
diescount and therefore only pald $12.95. Tr. of Prelim. Inj. Hr'g
at 20:16-18. Alcatraz did not provide the retail price of Mald's
tickets on its website, nor did it provide the retail price of
Maid’s tickets on the vouchers it scld. In addiction to charging
a4 higher price than Maid’'s retail price for adult wouchers,
i 2lcatraz initially sold customers time-specific vouchers for rides
on Maid of the Mist bhoats,

Problemz arose between the parties after Maid began receiving
complaints from customers who had purchased indiwvidual wvouchers
from Aleatraz for boat tours of Niagara Falls. according to Maid,
thege customers were arriving at the Maid box office with improper
paperwork and Maid was having to send them away to return with
proper paperwork, Maid asserts that customers were alsoe Lrate
when they realized that Alcatraz had charged them several deollars
mere for their wouchers than they would have had to pay for
tickets at the Maid heox office. Maild also asserts that customers
whe had purchased vouchers from Alcatraz thought that they had
purchased tickets for a Maid tour at a specific time, and these
Customers were angry upch arriving at the Maid box office and
learning that Maid does not issue tickets for tours at specific
times.

s a result of these probklems, Sandra Carlscon, Assistant

Controller for Maid, notified Alecatraz in writing on June 14,

7
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2005, that it would not aceept Algatraz's vouchers sold after the
end of June 2005. Alcatrxaz Dep., Ex. 33. Carolyn Ballard, an
independent ccntractor who does business development work for
Alcatraz, contacted Maid via email on June 14, 2005, to attempt to
reach an agreement with Mald so that Maid would continue to accept
individual wvouchers sold by Alcatraz, Ballard implied in her
emall that Alcatraz hoped Maid would give it an opportunity to
addresgg igsues Maid was having with BAlcatraz before Maid
terminated 1its credit arrangement with Alcatraz. Windsor Dep,,
Ex. E; Alcatraz Dep., Ex. 34.

Carlson replied wia email to Ballard on June 16, 2005,
gtating that Maid reguired Alcatraz to resolve certain issues in
order to continue its credit arrangement with Maid. Specifically,
Carlsen told Ballard that Alcatraz would need ta (1} ensure that
its customers arrived at the Maid box office with the proper
paperwork, (2) remove any reference to a tour at a specific time
from the vouchers issued to Alcatraz customers for Maid tours, (3)
charge no more for a tour ticket than Maid’'s retail price of
$11.50, and (4) c¢learly state Alcatraz’'e service charges on thes
www.niiagarafallstours.net website, Windscr Dep., Ex. 8.

Ballard responded to Carlson’s email on June 18, 2005.
Ballard tcld Carlseon that Alcatraz could not comply with Maid'e
reguirements ag to the price and the service charge Alcatraz asked
customers to pay for individual wvouchers for Maid tours.
According to Windsor, Alcatraz would lose money if it charged only

$11.50 as Maid requested. Therefore, Alcatraz could not agree to

those terma, Alcatraz Dep., Ex. 36,
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Alcatraz and Maild subseguently reached an agreement regarding
the paperwork problems, and Maid continued to accept Rlcatraz
vouchers. Alcatraz discontinued 1ts practice of s=2lling customers
time-specific wvouchers but did nobt lower its prices or state the
specific amount of its service charges on its website or on the
face of the wvouchers. On June 22, 2005, Ballard spoke with
Christopher Glynn, President of Maid. Later that day, Ballard
described the call to Windsor in an email:

I Jjust had a conference call with Christopher
Glynn, Pres. and Bob Schull, Controller of Maid of
the Mi=st. They have agreed to 'turn the clock
back' and start all over., They even APOLOGIZED for
the misunderstanding!

They will clean everything up and get us back on
the system by tomorrow. I told them that we would
do our best to get them back up on our websites
ghortly as well....we kissed and made up! (I told
them 1 was humbled by their willingness to allow me
to plead our case!)

Turns out this all stems from one complaint:
somecne who claimed that they were charged 540 for
2 Maid of the Mist tickets. . .

Zo, we are back on the team but with kid gloves on.
.I have the boss on our side...ag long as we are
good boye and girls, anyway!

Windscr Dep., Ex. 9.
However, on July 1%, 2005, Maid again wrote Rlcatraz because
custeomer complaints had continued. The letter stated, in part:
The problems with the woucher seem toe have been

addressed and we appreciate vyour cogperation.
Howewver, we are still experiencing problems with

pricing. Qur President has witnessed customer
dissatisfaction first-hand on his last two visits
to the admissicons area. Theae clients feel that

they have been mislead [sic] and overcharged by
Maid of the Mist as well as by Alcatraz. This is
reflecting poorly on Maid of the Mist and it cannot
continue,

In order to remedy this issue we reguire Alcatraz
Media to clearly state on the [voucher] what the
Maid of the Mist charges for the boat tour and the
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amocunt of service charges that are added by your
company .

Blcatraz Dep., EX. 28, &As a result, Alcatraz added some language
regarding the bocking fee to the wvouchers. However, BAlcatracz
decided not to disclose Maid's retail rate or its own booking fee
on the website or the vouchers.
tn July 29, 206%, Maid neotified Alcatraz that 1t must

immediately stop selling vouchers. The letter stated, in part:

We believe that ocur desire for Alcatraz Media to

eliminate the misleading website pricing of the

Maid of the Mist Boat Tour has been clearly

communicated on several occasions. Our admissions

staff continue to receive complaints from patrons

that purchased their E-vouchers from Alcatraz Media

and feel they were over charged, misled, and taken

advantage of. We find this customer feedback to ke

unacceptable and therefore reguest that  vyou

immediately discontinue the sale of [vouchers] for

the Maid of the Mist Boat Tour and remove the tour

from your website.
Rod Smith Dep., Ex. 26. On July 30, 3005, Maid posted a gign at
its box offices that Alcatraz did not have authority to sell
vourhers for Maid tickets and that Maid would not accept vouchers
iseued after July 29, 2005. When customers attempted to redeem
vouchers purchaged from Alcatraz, Maid employees explalned that
Alacatraz did not have authority to sell the wouchers. Mald
employees also told some Alcatraz customers that Alcatraz was a
"goam.® See Rod Smith Dep., Ex. 24

Beginning on July 30, 2005, Maid kept a log of how many

Alcatraz vwouchers were presented at its hox offices, Maid
documented 1,802 vouchers that were sold before July 2%, 2005 and

redeemed after that date. Maid documented 8%4 vouchers that it

did not honor based on the fact that they were sold by Alcatraz

after July 2%, 2005. Finally, Maid kept track of whether the

“ 1o
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customers whose vouchers were not honored thereafter purchased
tickets from Maid.

Maid’s decision not to honor Alcatraz vouchers after July 28,
2005, resulted in a number of Alcabtraz customers expressing
confusgion and anger with both Maid and Alcatraz. Alcatraz submits
a declaraticn by one cusatomer, Jeff Crist, who said that the Maid
superviscr with whom he spoke abcout Maid's refusal to honor his
Alcatraz voucher was “very rude” and “made me feel like we were
ripping them off and that we had some how [g2ic] done scmething
wrong.® Crist Decl. at Y 14-1%5. Another Alcatraz customer whose
voucher was not honored by Maid declared that he “felt like Maid
should have honored our e-tickets and should have been wmore
apologetic.” Havens Aff. at 99 15-16.

On the other hand, Maid submits that several customers chose
net to purchase tickets from Maid's box offices after Maid refused
te heoner their wveouchers. Maid@ felt it necessary to give one
particularly irate Alcatraz customer five complimentary vouchers
for rides on Maid beoat tours. Maid also alleges that ik aold
tickets to Alcatraz customers for below-retail prices to assuage
them after Maid refused to honer their Alcatraz vouchers,
Additionally, Maid asserts that it gave Alcatraz customers
complimentary f2ouvenirs in an effort to mitigate Alcatraz’'s damage
to Maid's goodwill.

Degpite the c¢ontenticus relationship between the parties,
Alcatraz never failed to pay Maid for tickets Maid issued based on
Alecatraz wvouchers., Even after Maid instructed Alcatraz to gtop

selling vouchers for rides on Maid s boats, Maid continued to send

11
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Alcatraz invoices for tickets issued to Alcatraz customers whose
vauchers were purchased before July 29, 2005.

Counsgel for Maid sent Alcatraz a cease-and-desist letter on
Bugust 5, 2005, threatening legal action if Alcatraz did not stop
selling wvouchers for Maid tickets. See Windsor Dep., Ex. 11.

Mr. Windsor responded by e-mail to Maid's counsel at least three

timeg. One e-mail stated: "Your letter 1s false, and your client
knows it is falsge." Windsor Dep., Ex. 14; Rod Smith Dep., Ex. 24.

A second e-mail gtated:

Thiz is just 2 courtesy nete to advise you that we are
filing complaints today with the Attorney Generals of
New York and Ontario, the Niagara Parke Commissicn, and
the Better Business Bureaus in Niagara Falls, New York
and Ontario.

Windscer Dep.., Ex. 14, Rod Smith Dep., BEx. 24. & third e-mail
stated;

I am so disappointed that you have not called.

We have secured the testimony of three customers
whe will testify to the slander, trade libel and
various wrongs perpetrated by semployees of Maid of
the Mist. We have names, dates and times, and
decailed comments. One of the Maid of the Mist
qupervisors even told a customer to call his bank
and file a chargeback. I'm sure you know the
various laws that wiclates.

I'm afraid we're going Lo clean up in court against
VO .

Wouldn*t vyou rather just pay us a seven Iligure
amount and accept that we will be selling maid
[sic] of the Mist tickets forever? Write us a big
fat check.

Windsor Dep., Ex. 14; Rod Smith Dep., Ex. 24. ©On August %, 2005,
Windsor wrote to the MHew York State Abtorney General and the
Ontaric Attorney General and told them that Maid had breached a
valid contract. Windsor also filed a formal complaint with the

Better Business Bureauw of Scuth Central Ontaric on dugust 2, 2005.

Windsor Dep., Ex. 7.

12




Hoste

on www.iptrademarkattorney.com

Alcatraz continued to sell Maid vouchers. It was Alcatraz's
positicen that it had a contract with Maid to sell individual
voucherse for tours on Maid's beats. It was also Alcaktraz‘g
pogition that its agreement with Maid did net set a price it must
charge customers for those wvouchers. Although BAlcatraz still
charged $13.9%5 per adult voucher on July 29, 2005, gzee Prelim.
Inj. Hr’'g, ExX. 24, Alcatraz changed the price it charged for an
adult wvoucher several times over the following weeks and meonths.
For example, on August 10, 2005, Alcatraz charged $15.95% per adult
voucher. Prelim. Inj, Hr'g, Ex. 12. On Auguet 15, 2005, Alcatraz
charged $21.50 per adult wvoucher. Alcatraz Dep., Ex. 45. an
dugust 18, 2005, Alcatraz charged $5.595 per adult wvoucher.
Prelim, Inj. Hx‘g, Ex. 23. On August 19, 2005, Alcatraz charged
521.50 per adult voucher. Alcatraz Dep., Ex. 47.

on August 12, 2005, Windsor wrote another e-mail to Maid's
counsel stating:

We have a contract. 1 have previcusly faxed a copy
to you., I will send ancther copy teo you.

You should ask for ceopies of all the emaila from
Maid of the Miset to us. Makes for interesting
reading.

The Maid of the Mist staff is slandering Alcatrasz
Media. as you well know from one where I provided
the details te you, and turning away people wheo
bought tickets MONTHS ago. You should consider the
consequences of Maid of the Mist's activity of
stealing meoney from people who have already paid
and of denying [vouchers] from customers who paid
Alcatraz Media.

Alcatraz Media has complied and continue [sic] to
comply with all terms of the contract with Maid of
the Mist, Therefore, Alcatraz Media will continue
to s2ell, Alcatraz Media has no intentien of EVER
stopping to sgell Maid of the Mist tickebs. T
myself, perscnally, am busily preparing a new web
site that will golely sell Maid of the Mist
tickets. In addition, I, perscnally, am applying
te Niagara Parks Commission for a contract to
cperate a beoat ride at Niagara Falla, and I will do

i3
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gverything in my power personally to see that Maid
of the Mist loses the ability to operate at Niagara
Falls or gets the competiter they 8o richly
deserve.
Alcatraz Media is now providing form lettera to all
of our customers to enable them te gquickly and
easily file complaints with the Attorneys General
and the Better Business Bureaus.
You have never responded to any of my many previous
emails and faxes. Have you taken Alcatraz Media's
gettlement offer to your clienk? Alcatraz Medila
will settle for %4 million and a long-texrm contrackt
to gell for Maid of the Mist., Flease extend that
offer to your clients.

Windsor Dep., Ex. 15.

Maid persisted in its refusal to honor Alcatraz vouchers at
its ticket booths. Several customers requested refunds from
Alcatraz and/or disputed Alcatraz’s charges with their credit card
companies after Maid refused to honor individual vouchers they had
purchased from Alcatraz. When requesting a refund from Alcatraz
wvia email, at least one customer indicated that it was her
understanding that Alcatraz’'s actions constituted fraud. Alcatraz
believes it was Maid’s employees who led this customer to believe
that Alcatraz had committed fraud.

Maid filed a complaint regquesting a temporary restraining
order and injunctive relief in the Superior Court of Gwinnett
County, Georgia on August 25, 2005. This complaint did not state

a statutory basis for Maid's claim against Alcatraz. A hearing on

the matter was =set for October 28, 2005, Maid subsegquently

“ withdrew its motion because the 2005 season had ended, and it

believed that Alcatraz had agreed not to gell vouchers for the
2006 sSeasci.

Between the 2005 and 2006 seasons, as a result of its poor

experience with Alcatraz, Maid terminated its relationship with

14
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the tweo other ticket brokerages that sold individual wouchers
{www.vacaticonsmadeeasy.com and www.looktours.com). Maid had not
received any customer complaints regarding either of the other
ticket brokerages. Maid asserts that both of the other ticket
brokerages charged the face value of the ticket {the price Maid
charges), such that their bocking fee was only the difference
between the ticket price and the net adult rate for which the
brokerage purchased 1t.

Somze time on or before February &, 2006, Alcatraz began
gelling e-tickets for Mald's beoat tours for the 2006 season. &g
uzed in this Order, an e-ticket is different from a wvoucher in
that a woucher is redeemed for a ticket by Maid at its box
offices, whereas an e-ticket is redeemed for a ticket by Alcatraz
itaelf.® According to Windsor, Alcatraz planned to obtain tickets
for which to redeem the e-tickets it issued either by buying them
at Maid's box offices, buying them from another website, or buying
gift certificates through Maid's corporate office. No evidence
haz been presented showing that Alcatraz ever did acgulire any Maid
tickets by any of these means, howeaver.

In February 2006 and March 200&, Alcatraz still did not state
Maid's ticket price or Alcatraz'=s bocking fee on its website or on

the printed e-tickets. On March 9 and 24, 2006, Rlcatraz was

EtE-ticket" has been used interchangeably with “"voucher"™ in
gsome of the parties' communications. However, the Courk uses "e-
vicket" to refer only te & print-out that Alcatraz would redeem
for a ticket. Everything sold by Alcatraz during the 2005 season
was & voucher, whereas everything sold by Alcatraz during the 2006
geason was an e-ticket,

15
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charging $21.50 per adult e-ticket, Prelim. Inj. Hr'g, Ex=s. 17,

18.
Maid filed an updated brief in support of its regquest for

temporary restraining order in the Superior Court of Gwinnettc
County, Georgia on March 20, 2006, Based on a stakement in Maid’'s
updated brief that "Defendants have violated the Lanham Act and
state unfair competition laws," alcatraz removed the actiocn ko
this Court on March 28, 2006&. Alcatraz alsc anawered the
complaint on March 28, 2006, and asserted counterclaimz alleging
pramiggory estoppel, breach of contract, slander, and violations
of the Secrgia Fair Business Practices Act, 0.C.G.A. § 10-1-331 et
sed.

After reviewing documents originally filed in the Supericr
Court of Gwinnett County, this Court issued a temporary
restraining order on March 30, 2006, prehibiting Alcatraz from
selling Maid wvouchers or using Maid's name or image on its
website. The Court modified the temporary restraining order on
ARpril 3, 2006 to allow Alcatraz to sell tour packages that include
Maid wvouchers through Gray Line Tours because 1t was clear that
Maid was not opposed to such sales, The Court held an evidentiary
hearing on Maid's requesat for preliminary injunction on April 11
and 12, 2006. At the conclusicon of the hearing, the Court
directed Maid to file proposed findings of fact and conclusionz of
law ("PFFCL")} by April 19, 2006 and for Alcatraz to file =&
response by April 26, 2006, For the first time in its PFFCL, Maid
identified the sgpecific statutory basis of its claim against
dlcatraz. Maid alleged two state law causes of acticon - tortiocus

or intenticnal interference with business relations under Gecrgia

16
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comman law, and false or fraudulent advertising under O.C.G.A. §
10-1-421.7

Although this case wag originally removed teo thie Court based
on federal question jurisdiction under the Lanham Act, Maid did
not asgsert any claimsa based on federal law. This Court retained
subject matter jurisdiction over this action in diversity pursuant
te 28 U.5.C, § 133Z. Bll plaintiffs are diverse from all
defendants.* The amount in controveray in this action is derived
from the monetary value to Maid of a permanent injunction against
Alcatraz’'s future sale of individual Maid vouchers. See Federated
Mut. Ins. Co. v. McKinnon Motorg, LLC, 32% F.id BOR, 8507 {llth
Cir. 2003} ("When a plaintiff seeks injunctive or declaratory
relief, the amount in controversy 1s the monetary value of the
clhject of the litigation from the plaintiff's perspective.”
{internal citation omitted]). Because Alcatraz’s future sale of
Maid vouchers threatens Maid’s good will, the Court concludes that
the walue of the injunction to Maid derives from the walus of
Maid’s good will. Maid has been cperating tours at WNiagara Falls
for 161 yeara. Maid sold 2.5 million tickets for the 2005 season

at 311.50 per ticket, generating nearly $29 million in revenue.

‘Maid later withdrew its false advertising claim.

*Plaintiff Maid of the Mist Corporation is a New York
corporation. Flaintiff Maid of the Mist Steamboat Ceompany is an
Cntario, Canada corporation. Defendant Alcatraz Media, LLC, is a
Califgrnia limited liability company that has a registered agent
in Gwinnett County, Georgia and is authorized to transact business
in Georgia. Defendant Alcatraz Media, Inc., is a Delaware
corporation that has a registered agent in Gwinnett County,
Georgia and 1s authorized to transact business in Georgia.
Defendant William Windsor 1s a resident of Georgia.
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The Court finds that the wvalue of the good will of Maid as the
exclusive operator of Niagara Falls tour beats serving millions of
visitors per year i1s greater than $75,000.00.

The Court granted Maid's motion for preliminary injunction on
May 12, 2006, and enjolned Alcatraz from selling individual
vourhers, tickets, andfor e-ticksts for Maid of the Mist boat
rides; from using Maid of the Mist's name or images to sell
individual wvouchers, tickets, and/or e-tickets for Maid of the
Mist beat rides; from participating in schemes to attempt to sell
individual wvouchers, tickets, and/or e-ticketg for Maid of the
Mist boat rides; and from filing false reports with the Better
Businegs Bureaus of New York and Onkario. The Court did not
enjoin Alcatraz from eelling tour packages through Gray Line Tours
of Teronteo, Gray Line Tours of Buffaleo, Gray Line Tours of Niagara
Falls, Gray Line Tours of New York, or Over the Falls Tours which
include Maid of the Mist tickets or vouchers because Maid was not

cpposed to such sales.

IT. Standard of Review

Summary Jjudgment 1is appropriate only "if the pleadings,
depositions, answers to interrogatories, and admiassions on file,
together with the affidavits, if any, show that there 1is no
genuine issue as to any material fact and that the moving party is
entitled to a judgment as a matter of law." Fed. R, Ciwv. P.
E&ic). In ruling on a summary judgment meotion, the Court must
view the evidence in a light most favoerable to the non-moving

party., Adickes v. S.H. Kress & Co. ., 398 U.S5. 144, 157 (1970).

" Turther, the Court may not make credibility determinations, weigh

18




Hostgd on www.iptrademarkattorney.com
the evidence, or draw inferences from the facts. Anderson v.
Liberty Tobby, Tnc., 477 U.S5. 242, 285 (1986].

To prevail in its wotion for summary Jjudgment, the moving
party must show that the evidence is insufficient to establish an

egsential element of the non-moving party's case. Celotex Corp,

v, Catrett, 477 J.5. 317, 325 {(1984&;. If the moving party makes
a sufficient showing, then the non-moving party "must come forward
with 'specific facts showing that there is a genuine issue for
trial.'" Matsushita Electric Industrial Co. v. Zenith Radico Corp. ,
475 1.8, EB74, 587 (l9Bg). If the evidence supporting the non-
moving party’'® claimg is insufficient for a jury to return a
verdict for the non-moving party, or ig "merely colorable" or "not
i significantly probative," then the moving party is entitled to
summary sudgment. Anderson, 477 at 249, If, however, reascnable
minds could differ as to the import of the evidence, and =a
reasonable interpretation of the evidence could lead to a wverdict
for the non-moving party, then summary judgment is inappropriate.

Id. at 251-52.

II1. Motions for Summary Judgment

Rlcatraz argues 1in its Motion for Summary Judgment [#146]
that it is entitled to summary judgment on Maid's sole remaining
elaim for tortious interference with business relaticne. ARlcatraz
contends that Maid has not submitted evidence sufficient to meet
twe of the four reguired elements of tortious interference with
business relations. Specifically, Alcatraz contends that Maid

cannet show that Alcatraz induced a third party to discontinue or
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fail to enter into an anticipated relationship with Maid and that
Maid cannct show that Alcatraz caused it fimancial injury.

Maid assgerts in its Motlon for Summary Judgment [#148] that
it and not Alcatraz is entitled to summary judgment on its claim
for torticus interference with hbusiness relations. Maid argues
that it has submitted sufficient evidence to meet all four
elements of the tort under Georgia law. Maid contends that it i=
entitled to permanent injunctive relief against Alcatraz on kthe
bagie of its torticus interference with Maid’'s businese relations.

Additionally, Maid asserts that it is entitled to summary judgment

orn  Alcatraz's four counterclaims for breach of contract,
promissory estoppel, slander, and violations of the Georgia Fair

Business Practices Act.

A, Tortious Interfersnce With Business Eelations

Maid <¢laims that Alcatraz intentionally interfered with
Maid's business relations with its customers by continuing to zell
vouchers for Maid tickets after July 29, 2005, the date on which
Maid terminated its credit arrangement with Alcatraz,

To establish a c¢laim of intenticonal interference with
business relationsg, a plaintiff must prove that the defendant:
"{1l) acted improperly and without priwvilege, {2} purposely and
with malice with the intent to injure, {(3) induced a third party
or parties not to enter into or continue a business relaticaship
with the plaintiff, and (4) for which the plaintiff suffered some

financial injury." Hayes v, Irwin, 541 F. Supp. 397, 429 (N.D.

Ga. 1982). A claim of intentional interference with businegs

relations exists for interference with prospective businegs
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relaticons, in addition to existing ones. Id. Howewver, "to
establish a cause of acticen for interference with prospeactive
business relations, the plaintiff must demonstrate that absent the
interference, those relaticns were reasonably likely to develop in
fact." Id., The Court will address the parkties' arguments with

respect to each of theze elements helaow.

1, Acted Improperly and Without Priviledge

Alcatraz contendsz that it had a contract with Maid to gell
Maid wvouchers for the 200% season. Alcatraz asserts that Maid
wrongfully ceased honoring Alcatraz's wvalidly-issued wvouchersa
after July 2%, 2005.

Maid asserts that it was entitled to revoke Alcatraz’'s
authorization to sell Malid wvouchers wvia direct billing at any
time. Maid submits that it did revoke Alcatraz’s authorization to
s5ell Maid wouchers wia direct hilling as of July 29, 2005. It is

Maid’s position that, bkecause Alcatraz no longer had authorization

te sell Maid tickets ae of July 2%, 2005, Alcatraz acted
improperly and without privilege by continuing to sell kickets
after that date.

In the context of a wrongful interference with buziness
relaticns claim, “acting improperly® means utilization of
“predatory tactics such  as physical viclence, fraud or
misrepresentation, defamation, usze of confidential information,
abusive civil suits, and unwarranted criminal prosecutions.” Chong

v. Reebaa Constr., Inc. , 284 Ga. App. 830, 838 {2007;. ¥

defendant who actzs “without privilege® is one who acts without “a i

legitimate or bona fide ecconomic interest...or a legitimate
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relationship...with the [plaintiff business].” Culpepper v,
Thompacon, 254 Ga. App. B&%, 571-72 (2002), The defendant ig “a

stranger, interloper, or maddler" in the contract or business
relationship.  Id.

The parties' legal relationship pricr to July 29, 2005 iz the
critical determining factor with respect to the question of
whether Alcatraz was a “stranger, interloper, or meddler” after

July 2%, 2005. The Court finda nothing in the record to evidence

a binding contract between the two parties for the 2005 season or
thereafter. Instead, the avidence in the record shows that Maid
authorized Alcatraz to 8ell individual wvouchers wia direct
Lilling., and that Maid had the right to revoke Ehat authorization
at any time.

The entire exchange between the parties to establish a
relaticnship was as follows. In July 2004, Alcatraz zubmitted a
completed credit application to Maid of the Mist Corporation and
Maid of the Mist Steamboat Company, Ltd. See Windsor Dep., Ex. 2.
In the application, Alcatrazs regquested a credit line of %10,000.00
per month from Maild and Alcatraz agreed to pay all amounts owed to
Maid when due. See id. Alcatraz provided Maid with credit
references and a sample voucher form., See id. ©On July 27, 2004,
Midge Serrianne, Bockkeeper for Mald, wrote to Alcatraz to let it
know the credit application had keen approved. Windsor Dep., EX.
3. The letter stated that Maid was “pleased to offer your company
credit with the Maid of the Mist” and informed Alcatraz that Maid
would kill Alcatraz every fifteen days for vouchers redeesmed at

the Maid box cffice. Id, The letter cleozed with the statement,
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"“We look forward te serving you and your clients this coming
season.” Id.

The next gontact between Maild and Alcatraz was at the
beginning of the 2005 season. ©On March 9, 2005, Maid emailed Mr.
Wwindsor a copy of its Group Policy, its 2005 rates, and its 2005
schedule. Windsor Dep., Ex. 4. Maid of the Mist’s Group Policy
explicitly stated Maid's rules for vendors of vouchers for Maid
tours. Item 3 on the Group Policy described the ways in which a
vendor may pay Maid for tickets, including direct billing upon
pripr authorization. Id. Item 5 an the Group Policy clearly
stated: *"The Maid of the Mist reserves the right to withdraw
billing and/or cheque privileges at any time.” Id.

It is clear from the record that the relationship bestween
Maid and Alcatrazr was a credit relationship only. Maid pre-
approved Alcatraz for direct billing and extended $10,9000.00 of
credit per month to Alcatraz. This meant that Alcatraz was
authorized to sell £10,000.00 worth of Maid vouchers per month on
credit, and Maid would send Alcatraz an inveoice every fifteen days
for the Alcatraz weouchers redeemed at its ticket bkooth. Maid's
Group Policy explicitly informed Alcatraz that Maid had the right
to revoke this credit authorization at any time. Revocation of
the credit authorization meant nothing more than that Maid would
ne longer accept Alcatraz veouchers for which it had not been
prepaid. There is no evidence in the record showing that Maid
granted Alcatraz any kind of enduring or binding right to =sell
Maid tickets.

The evidence showsz that Maid revoked Alcatraz’s authorization

to sell wvouchers for Maid via direct billing on July 29, 2005.
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After July 2%, 2005, Alcatraz no longer had a relationship with
Maid. When Alcatraz continued to zell individual vouchers for
Maid tickets after July 29, 2005, Alcatraz acted without
privilege, as a stranger or meddler in Maid’'s relaticonships with
cugtomaers for ite tour boat rides.

Despite notice from Maid that it was oo longer authorized to
sell wvouchers for Maid tickets via direct billing as of July 23,
2005, Alcatraz ceontinued teo sell Maid vouchere after that date,
In deing so, Alcatraz acted improperly by misrepresenting its
status as an authorized dealer of Maid of the Mist tour tickets to
cnline customsrsa. Customers whe purchagsed Alcatraz vouchers were
understandably confused and upset when they arrived at the Maid

box office and discovered they had purchased vouchers that were

worthless,

The Court finds that Alcatraz acted improperly and without

privilege in its practice of selling Maid ticketas after July 29,
2005. As of that date, Alcatraz became a “stranger, interloper,
or meddler” in the relaticonship between Maid and iks customers and
wrongfully interfered in that relationship by misrepresenting to
Maid customers numerpus times that 1t was autheorized to sell

vouchers for Maid tickets.

2. Purposely and With Malice With the Intent to Injure

Alcatraz argues that it had a contractual right to gell Maid
vouchers and therefore did not act with malice or intent to injure
by continuing to sell wvouchers in accordance with thart contract.

Maid contends that Alcatraz acted maliciously when it

continued selling Maild tickets after July 29, 2005. Maid aubmits
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Windscor's emails as evidence that Alcatraz had no intention of
ever terminating its sale of Maid tickets and that Alcatraz hoped
to interfers in and injure Maid’s relationship with its customears.
Maid also submits that Alcatraz’e repeated alteration of the price
of Maid vouchers on its website 13 evidence of Alcatraz’'s intent
te injure Maid.

The term "with malice" is construed liberally for the purpose
of a claim of tortious interference with business relaticons. The
Ceorgia Supreme Court has held that "“malicious” or "maliciocusly"
generally means any unauthorized interference or any interference
without justification or excuse. Luke v. DuPrees, 158 Ga. 520, 356
{1924) . In the specific context of tortious interference with
btusiness relations, *[ftlhe act is malicicus when it is done with

knowledge of the plaintiff's rights and with the intent to

interfere with them. Perscnal 1ill will or animosity 1is not
essential to a finding of malice." Hayegs, 541 F. Supp. at 428

{internal citations omitted].
The Court finds that Alcatraz acted purposely and with malice

with the intent to injure after July 25, 2005. Alcatraz had

knowledge of Maid’s rights respecting its customers and
intenticonally interfered with them. Prior te July 235, 2005, Maid
informed Alcatraz that Alcatraz cusbtomers were surprised and
unhappy when they arrived at Maid's box office and learned they
had paid several dollars morxe per voucher than they would have had
to pay at Maid's box office for a retail priced ticket. Alcatraz

knew that this was causing probklemz for Maid and was negatively

" impacting its relationship with its customers. Maid asked

Rlecatraz to make both the Maid ticket prices and the Alcatraz

25




Host¢d on www.iptrademarkattorney.com

gervice charges clear to its customers, Alcatraz chose not to do
=50 .

Prior to July 29, 2005, Alcatraz had a relationship with Maid
and wae authorized by Maid to serve as an intermediary between
Maid and its customers by selling wvouchers for Maid tickets.
However, after July 29, 2005, Alcatraz was no longer an
intermediary between Maid and its customers. Alcatraz had no
privilege to interfere in Maid’'s relationship with its customers.
Despite this, Alcatraz continued to sell Maild tickets it had been
informed Maid would no longer honor. Alcatraz knew this would
jmpact Maid‘s relationship with those customers in a negative way.

After July 29, 2005, Alcatraz alsc engaged in a practice of
over- and under-pricing its wvouchers for Maid tickets. In the
three weeksg following July 2%, 2005, Alcatraz changed the price it
charged for adult Maid vouchers from 513.395 per voucher {52.45
higher than the Maid price of $11.50) to 315.85 per voucher,
£21,50 per voucher, $9%.%5 per voucher, and back to $21.50 per
voucher. Alcatraz knew that this would create problems for Maid
at its box office, just as it had created problems for Maid prior
to July 29, 2005.

Finally, after Maid revoked Alcatraz's authorization to sell
Maid wvouchers via direct billing, Alcatraz informed Maid of its
intent to “providle] form letters to all of our customers Eto
enable them to guickly and easily file complaints with the
Attornevs General and the Better Business Bureaus.” Windsor
Dep., Ex. 15. Windsor then filed complaints with the Attorneya
General of New York state and Ontario and with the Better Buainess

Bureau <f South Central Ontario. The anticipated, intenticonal
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affect of filing these complaints was a detrimental one on Maid’'s

relationship with its current and future customers,

3. Induced a Third Partv Net to Enter Into or Continue

& Businesg Relationship with Plaintiff

Alcatraz argues that Maid has submitted no evidence to

support its allegations that third parties discontinued or failed
to enter into a relationship with Maid as a result of Alcatraz’s
actions. Alcatraz centends Ethat Maid's only evidence of
inducement relates te nine customers Maid alleges refused to buy
tickets cnce they learned Maid would not honor their Alcatraz
vouchers, Alcatraz contends that those nine customers were really
four customers, and that the four customers in fact purchased Maid
tickets and did not walk away from the Maid box office as Maid
alleges.

Maid asserts that Alcatraz's gale of vouchers it knew would
noct he honored constitutes inducement of a third party not to
enter into or continue a business relationship with Maid. Maid
algo pointe to Windsor's writing of a form letter for one customer
which was filed with the Better Business Bureau and contends that
this act likely turned that customer against Maid and induced him
not toe do business with Maid in the future.

The record shows that after July 25, 2005, Alcatraz sold 854
vouchers it had been neotified weould not be honored by Maid,
Alcatraz knew or should have known that this would anger Maid
customers. Alcatraz knew or should have known that some customers
would take this anger out on Maid. Alcatraz alsc knew or should

have known that =ome customers would choose not to enter into arF

27




Hostg¢d on www.iptrademarkattorney.com

continue a business relationship with Maid after learning that the
Alcatraz vouchere they had purchased were worthless.

The record clearly shows that this 1is exactly what
transpired. MWany Alcatraz customers expressed their anger to Maid
when Maid declined to accept their Alcatraz vouchers at the Maid
box office. Some customers were so angry that they chose not to
enter inte a business relationship with Maid and refused to buy
ticketa from Maid after learning that thelr Rlcatraz vouchers were
worthless, For example, customer Jeff Crist testified that he and
hiz wife chose not to buy tickets from Maid after learning that
their Alcatraz vouchers were worthless. Crist Aff. [#147-24] at
99 10-13. Customer Greg Havens also testified that he and his
wife chose not to buy tickets from Maid after learning that their
rlecatraz vouchers were worthless. Havens Aff. [#147-25] at 11 10-
13.

Alcatraz argues that it did not induce (Crist and Havens to
discontinue their business relations with Maid. Instead, Alcatraz
asserts that Crigt and Havens decided neot to buy Maid tickets

because of the way Maid treated them at the box office. The Court

dees not f£ind thie argument persuasive. Although both Crist and
|| Havens testified that they did not like the way Maid'a staff
treated them when they presented their Alcatraz wvouchers, it 1is
impogsible to separate their negative feelings as a result of
having purchased worthless wvouchers from Alcatraz and their
| regative feelings as a regult of Maid's refusal to honor those

woucrhers., Neither Crist nor Havens would have been in a situation

of conflict with Maid staff had Alcatraz not first represented to
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them that it was authorized to sell Maid vouchers and had Criet
ard Havens not purchased those vouchers as a result.

The record also supports an inference that more customers
with Alcatraz vouchere would have walked away without buying
ticketg from Maid but for the unigue nature of the service Maid
provides. For example, one customer, Sharon Oestereich, submitted

an affidavit that she decided not to buy Maid tickets after

arriving at the Maid ticket beooth and discovering that her pre-
purchased Alcatraz vouchers were worthless. Qestereich AfL,
[#171-2]1 at 99 8-10. However, later in the day Oestereich decided
that her degire to ride the Maid boat was such that she was
willing to return to the Maid box office and purchase new tickets
to ride the boat. Id. at Y 11-12.

Additiconally, the record shows that Windscor filed a complaink
with the Betbter Business Bureau of South Central Ontario that
contained disparaging statements about Maid. PFurthermore, Windsor
wrote another letter teo the Better Business Bureau for a customer,
Bruce Lester. Windscr's complainte, which contained inaccurate
and disparaging information ae to the relationship between Maid |
and &alcatraz, may have induced customers who reviewed this

complaint net to take a trip to Niagara Falls and not to ride

Maid's boats.
Based on the foregeing evidence, the Court finds that
Alecatraz induced third parties not to enter into or continue a

business relationship with Maid,
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4. The Plaintiff Suffered Scome Financial Injury

Maid alleges that it suffered financial injury ae a result of
Alcatraz's actions., First, Maid contends that there were ab least
nine adult customers who purchased vouchers from Alcatraz and
refused to buy Maid tickets at the box office when they learnad
that Maid would not honor the Alcatraz wvouchers, Second, Maid
submits that it had te =sell tickets at less than face walue to
Alratraz customers who had purchased vouchers from Alcatraz at a
price lower than Maid’'s retail rake. Finally, Maid asserts that

it was compelled to glve customerz complimentary tickets and

souvenirs to assuage their anger, which was caused by Alcatraz’sa
sale of worthless, overpriced vouchers.

Blcatraz contends that Maid suffered no financial injury as
a regule of Alcatraz’'s actions. Alcatraz submits that Maid’'s only
evidence of financial injury is that "nine" customers refused to
buy Maid tickets after Maid informed them it would not honor their
pre-purchased Alcatraz wvouchers, Rlcatraz contends that theze
nine customers were really only four customers, named Ms.
Desgtereich, Mr. Corscn, My, Zastrow, and Ms. Burgio, Alcatraz
alleges that these four individuals in fack did buy tickets from
Maid after their Alcatraz vouchers were not honored. In addition,
Alcatraz contends that any other Alcatraz voucher customers who
refused te buy tickets upon arrival ac Maid'a box office did sc as
a result of Maid‘s treatment of them and not as a result of
Alcatraz’s conduct. Finally, alcatraz maintains that Maid cannot
identify specific instances where 1t issued complimentary tickets

or souveniras to appeage Alcatraz customers.
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The parties disagree as to almost every fact in this case.
The parties disagree with especial vehemence regarding Maid’s
alleged financial injury as a result of Alcatraz‘s interventlion in
the relationship between Maid and its customerg. As a result, the
Court has reviewed the record independently and finds that Maid
suffered financial injury as a result of Alcatraz’s actions.

The record shows that at least bwo customers, Mr. Crist and
Mr. Havens, decided not to buy four Maid tickets after learning
that their pre-purchased Rlcatraz vouchers would neot be honored by
Maid. See Crist Aff. at Y9 10-13; Havens Aff. at Y9 10-13. The
record also shows that Maid issued complimentary tickets to at
least one customer, Richard Puglisi, in response to his anger over
Maid‘s refusal to honor his ARlcatraz voucher. Puglisi Aff. [#171-
5] at Y9 4-5. Finally, the record shows that Alcatraz gave At
least two angry customers complimentary souvenirs to appease them
after Maid refused to honor their Alcatraz wvouchers. See HNugent
AFE. [#147-16] at § 11; Madden Aff. [#14¢7-21] at 9§ 15. Alcatraz
submits that it was Maid’'s choice to give away Lree tickets and
ecuvenirs and that Alcatraz did net cause Maid this form of
financial injury. However, the Court finds that Maid would not
have been faced with these angry customers and would not have been
in a position where it had to mitigate damage to i1ts reputation
and good will in thie way had Alcatraz not first misrepresented
itself to be an authorized seller of Maid vouchers after July 235,
“ 2005, Although these financial injuries to Maid are minimal,
they are sufficient for the purpose of Maid’s claim of tortious

interference with business relations.
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5. Conclusion
The Court finds that there is no gquestion of material fact
with respect to Maid's claim that Alcatraz torticualy interfered
with Msid's business relaticns., Maid has proven esach of the four
elements of tortious interference as a matter of law.
Conseguently, the Court hereby GRANTS Maid’s Motion for Summary
Judgment with respect to its torticus interference claim. The

Court DENIES Alcatraz‘s Motion for Summary Judgment.

6. Relief

Maid does not seek money damages ag a result of Alcatraz’s
torticus interference and instead seeks only a permanent
injunction against future sale of individual wouchers and e-
rickets for Maid tours by Alcatraz, as well as an award of
attorney’'s fees and expenszes.

Alcatraz argues that Maid has not shown torticua interference
with buginess relations; therefore, Maid is not entitled to
injunctive relief.

»The standard for a permanent injunckion is essentially the
game as for a preliminary injunction except that the plaintiff
muast show actial success on the merits instead of a likelihood of

succegs,”  Amoaco Prod. Co. v, Village of Gambell, 480 U.8. 531,

546 1, 12 (1987). However, “[iln addition to succeeding on the

merite, a plaintiff must demonstrate the presence of two elementa:
continuing irreparable injury if the injunction does not issue,

and the lack of an adeguate remedy at law.” Siegel v. LePore,

234 F.3d 1162, 1212 (1lilth <Cir. 2000) ({internal guotation and

eitation omitted) .
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Az discussed above, this Court finds that Maid has succeeded
ol the merits of its tortious interference claim., With respect to
the two remaining elements required for a permanent injunction to
issue, Maid argues that it will suffer irreparable damage to its
reputation and goodwill if Alcatraz continues to sell vouchers for
Maid rides in the future. Maid also gubmite that Alcatraz has
expressed its intention to continue selling Maid vouchers. Maid
argues that there is no adequate remedy at law here because the
damage caused by Alcatraz to Maid’'s reputation and good will would
be difficult, if not impossible, to calculate,

The Court finds that a permanent injunction is clearly
appropriate in this case. Windsor's overtly hostile emails and
Alcatraz’s persistence in selling vouchsrs for Maid rides even
after Maid informed Alcatraz it did not have authorization to do
g0 indicate that Alcatraz would resume sale of Maid vouchers or e-
tickets should the Court 1ift its preliminary injunction on such
sales. The Court has no doubt asz to Windsor's desire to inflict
harm on Maigd. Alcatraz's sale of Maid wouchers and e-tickets
would have the same result now as it did before: angry customers
at Maid’'s box office and irreparable injury to Maid's reputation
and goodwill. Furthermore, the Court finds that legal damages
would be inadeguate here. The real injury caused by Alcatraz has
not been to Maidfs bottom line, but instead has been to Maid’s
reputation with its customers and with the other parties {such as
the Better Business Bureaus and the Attorneys General of New York
and Ontaricl with whom Alcatraz has sgpoken about Maid,

Consegquently, Maid is entitled to a permanent injunction against
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Alcatraz’s sale of vouchers or e-tickets for rides on Maid' = boatg
at Niagara Falls.

The Court hereby PERMANENTLY ENJOINS Defendants Alcatraz
Media, LL{, Alcatraz Media, Inc. and William Windsor, and their
affiliates® from: selling individual'? vouchers, tickets, andfor e-
tickets for Maid of the Mist boat rides; from using Maid cof the
Mist's name ¢or images to sell individual wvouchersa, tickets, and/or
e-tickets for Maid of the Mist boat ridesg; from participating in
schemes to attempt to sell individual vouchers, tickets, and/or e-
tickets for Maid of the Mist boat rides; and from filing false
reports with the Better Business Bureaus of New York and Ontario.
Pefendants Alcatraz Media, LLC, Alcatraz Media, Ine. and William
Wind=zor and their affiliates are not enjoined from selling tour
packages through Gray Line Tours of Toronteo, Gray Line Tours of
Buffalo, Gray Line Tours of MNiagara Falls, Gray Line Tours of New
York, or Over the Falls Tours which include Maid of the Miat

tickets or vouchers.

"Thia applies to all those acting in concert with Defendants
aor ary of Defendants. This includes, but is not limited to:
Feserve XL; Round America, LLC; Everybody Loves Trawvel, LLC;
Reserve 123; Take 5 Tours; Z2 Tours; and those entities uzing
Reserve XL gofeware to sell tours as agents of Alcatrarz.

e individual" refers to the fact that the voucher/e-ticket
is sold by itself, as opposed te being a part of a tour package.
This Order does not permit the enjoined parbties to sell multiple
rindividual®” wvouchers or e-tickets together.
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B. Alcatraz's Counterclaimg ;
Maid contends that it 1s entitled to summary Jjudomenk with
respect to each of Alecatraz’s four counterclaims: pPromissory
estoppel, breach of contract, slander, and viclation of the
Georgia Fair Business Practices Act. Alcatraz responds by
arguing that genuine issues of material fact remain with respect

to each of its counterclaims.

1. Fromisscry Eatoppel

Alcatraz argues that in March 2005, Sandra Carlson of Maid
orally promised Alcatraz that Maid would honor Alcatraz’s vouchers
for the 2005 season. Alcatraz contende that this promise was
definite and certain, was independent <f the credit agreement
between the partiesg and was conditioned upcon Alcatraz's sale of
vouchers for Maid ticketsa. Alcatraz ¢laims that Maid should have
known that Alcatraz would rely on that promise and that in fact
Alcatraz did rely on the promise to its detriment.

Maid asserts that Sandra Carlscon made no oral promise to
Maid. Maid submits in the alternative that even if Carlson d4did
make an oral promige to Alcatraz, that promise is not enforceable
2as a matter of law because: (1) the agreement betwesan the parties
was reduced to writing in the form of the credit agreement; (21}
the promise invalved the promisge of future performance; and (3}
the purported promise 1is too indefinite and uncertain to be
enforced. i

Promisgoery estoppel is codified in Georgia as 0.C.C3.A. § |
13-3-44(a}, which states: "[a] promise which the promisor should

reascnably expect to induce action or forbearance on the part of
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the promisee or a third person and which does induce such action

or forbearance is bkinding if injustice can be avolded only by

enforcement of the promise.” To prevail on a promlissory estoppel
claim, a plaintiff therefore must show that: (1) defendant made
certain promises, (2] defendant should have expected that

plaintiff would rely on such promises, (3] plaintiff did in fact
rely on such promises to its detriment, and (4} injustice can be

avoided only by enforcement of the promise. Canterbury Forest

Ass'nm v. Colling, 243 Ga. App. 425, 427 {2000).

The cnly evidence Alcatraz has submitted to support this
counterclaim is the Windsor depeositicon.!’ The Windsor deposition
containe testimony regarding a conversation between Windsor and
Sandra Carlson in March 2005 about the logistics of sgelling
vouchers for Maid tickets. Windsor testified that the following
exchange occurred during the course of the conversation:

I said lock, vyou know, on the basis of us working
that way can we set this up for you and sale [sic]
for this season and, you know, are we good to gao?
and she said yeah. I'm sure I did not say good to
go but I said do we have yvour okay to go forward
and sell Maid of the Mist for the 2005 seascon and
she said yes but we need to send you the updated
rates and the schedule and information and she, you

Ualeatraz argues in its respeonse to Maid's motion for summary
judgment that the Carolyn Ballard deposition also contains
evidence of an oral promise by Sandra Carlson that Alcatraz could
sell Maid tickets for the 2005 se=ason. However, Alcatraz never

filed the Carclyn Ballard depositicen with the Court and has not
Il provided the Court with excerpts or quotations from the
deposition. Additicnally, Maid requested that Alcatraz file the
Carcline Ballard deposition with the Court [#233], but Alcatraz
never did so. Conseguently, the Court cannot consider the Carclyn
Ballard deposition as ewidence to suppert Alcatraz’'sg promissory
estoppel counterclaim.
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know, said that would be taken care of and that was
the conversaticn.

Windscr Dep. at El:11-1%.

Examining the conversation in context, Windsor and Carlson
gpoke in March 2005, before the 2005 Maid <f the Misgt season had
begun. Windsor and Carlson spoke for the purpose of ensuring that
Alcatraz understood the proper paperwork to submit to Maid for
pilling purpcses once the 2005 season began. There 18 no
indication from either the context or the words exchanged that
Maid intended to establish any kind of binding relaticonship with
Blcatraz for the 2005 season.

Even i1f the Court were to construe Carlson’s words as a
promige by Maid, the promiee would ke at best a vague, indefinite
promise that Alcatraz could sell Maid wvouchers ig the 2005 season,

not for the duraticon of the 20058 seaszon. The Georgia Court of

Appeals has held that *“[e]stoppel does not apply...to wvagus,

indefinite promises.” Mooney v. Mooney , 245 Ga., App. 780, 783

(2000} .

Bacauge the Court finds that Alcarrasz has submitted no
evidence showing Maid made a promise toe Alcatraz, the Court finds
that Alcatraz canncet prove the first required element of
pramigscery estoppel under Georgla law. Conseguently, the Court
GRANTS Maid’'s Meotion for Summary Judoment as to Alcakraz'e

promissory estoppel counterclaim.

2. Breach of Contract
Alocatraz aggerts that there was an oral contract between Maid

and Alcatraz, formed when Eandra Carlscon of Maid told Alcatrarz
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that Maid would honor Alcatraz vouchers for the 2005 season.
Alcatraz contends that Maid breached that contract when it stopped
henoring Alcatraz vouchers as of July 2%, 2005.

Maid argues that the only agreement between the parties was
the written credit agreement. Maid contends that the credit
agreement was terminable at the will of either contracting party.
Maid submits that it lawfully terminated the credit agreement on
July 2%, 2006,

As discussed above, Alcatraz has not submitted any evidence
to show that Maid made a promise teo Alcatraz regarding Alcatraz’s
right to sell Maid vouchers, Without such a promise, there can be
no cral contract between the parties. The Court agrees with Maid
that the only agreement between the parties was the written
credit agreement, which, as the Court discussed in section IIT.A.1
of this Order, was wvalidly revoked by Maid as of July 22, 2005.

The Court hereby GRANTS Maid’s Motion for Summary Judgment

with respect to Alcatraz’s breach of contract counterclaim.

3. gSlander

Alcatraz asserts that Maid’s statements to Alcatraz customers
who attempted to use Alcatraz vouchers at the Maild box office
coenstitute slander. Specifically, Blcatraz contends that Maid
told numercus Alcatraz customers that Alcatraz is a “sacam” when
" Alcatraz ie net in fact a scam.

Maid contends that the statements its employees made to
Alratraz customers do not constitute slander because they were
true, they were expressions of opinion, they were conditionally

" privileged, and they were not made with malice.
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Georgia Code section 51-5-4(a) defines the tort of slander to
include a statement “imputing to ancther a crime punishable by
law,” ocr, alternatively, a statement "making charges against
another in reference to his trade, c¢ffice, or profession,
calculated to injure him therein.” To be actionable, however, the
statement must be false; truth is always a defense to slander.
G.C.G.A. § 51-5-6; Williams +. Trust Co., 140 Ga. App. 48, 50
(1976} .

additiconally, Gecrgia law recognizes certain commuoications
as conditionally privileged, including “[s]tatementas made with a
good faith intent on the part of the speaker to protect his or her
interest in a matter in which it is concerned.” 0.C.G.A.8
51-5-7(3). Conditicnally privileged statements cannot constitute
slander unlesa they were uttered with actual malice.

The Merriam-Webster dictionary defines “scam” as *a
fraudulent or deceptive act or operation.” It ie clear from the
facts of this case that Alcatraz engaged in deceptive acts by
representing to online custemers that it was an authorized seller
of Maid wvouchers after July 23, 2005. Algcatraz also deceived
customers by selling vouchers to them that it knew were worthless.
Blcatraz's deception of its customers falle within the dicticonary
definitien of the word scam. Maid's employvesg’ gtatementz to
Alcatraz customers who had been deceived by Alcatraz and who

believed they had purchased wvalid wvouchers were trus and do not

consetitute glander.
Even if the Court were to construe Mald's employees'
statements to be false (or only partially true}, the statements

were conditionally privileged pursuant to 0.C.G.A. § 51-5-7(3).
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The elements of the conditional privilege defense are: “good
faith, an interest to be upheld, a statement properly limited in

its acope, a proper occasion, and publication to proper persons.”

amador v. Thomas, 259 Ga. App. B35, 837 {(2003); gee also Davis v,

Sherwin-Williame Co., 242 Ga. App. 907, %08 {(2000).

The Court finds that all elements of the conditional
privilege defense are present here. First, Mald's employees in
gocd faith believed Alcatraz to be a scam. Every day in the days
and weeks following July 29, 2005, they were faced with Alcatraz
customers who had paid Alcatraz an amcunt higher than Maid's
retall ticket price for individual wvouchers that were no longer
recognized by Mald. Second, Maid had a business interest to be
upheld, as these were Malid's custeomers whe wanted to ride Maid’s
boats, and Alecatraz had interfered in Maid's relationeship with
them, Customers who had purchased worthless Alcatraz wvouchers
were angry at Maid, even though it was not Maid’s fault that they
had purchaged worthless wvouchers. Third, the statements were
limited in scope, were made on a proper occasion, and were
published to proper perscon. Maid's emploveess only told a few of
the 894 Alcatraz customers who attempted to redeem worthless
vouchers that Alcatraz was a scam, and the statements were made
cnly te Alcatraz customers who actually had been deceaived by
Blcatraz regarding its status as an authorized seller of Maid
vouchers, Finally, there is no evidence in the record to show
that Maid's employees made these statements with actual malice.

For the foregoing reasons, the Court finde that Alcatraz has
failed to show there is an guestion of material fact with respect

te whether Maid’'s employees slandered Alcatraz by calling it a

40




Hoste

d on www.iptrademarkattorney.com

“scam. " The Court hereby GRANTS Maid‘s Motion for Summary

Judgment with respect to Alcatraz’s slander counterclaim.

4, Viclations of the Georgia Fair Business

Practices Act

Alcatraz alleges that Maid violated the Georgia Fair Business
Practices Act (“FBPA"), 0.C.G.A. § 10-1-391 et sgeq., by making
false representaticns that Alcatraz was a “scam” to Alcatraz
customers and by diascriminating against Alcatraz in mandating that
Alcatraz raise ticket prices and requiring that Aalcatraz make
disclesures not regquired of other sellers of Maid tickets. Maid
argues that the FBPA do=s not apply here, because Alcatraz's
relationship with Maid is a wheolly private transaction betwesn
merchants.

The Geocrgia FEPA prohibits “unfair or deceptive acts or
practices in the conduct of consumer transactions.® O.C.G5.A. §
10-1-393. A suit brought under the FBPA “"must serve the public
interest and implement the purpose of the FEPA- the end to unfair
or deceptive acts or practices in  the puklic consumer

marketplace.” Zeeman v. Black, 156 Ga. App. 82, 84 (1380}).

The Court finds that Alcatraz's FBPA claims do not serve the
public interest or implement the purposed of the FBEPL, In fact,
Alcatraz’s FBPA claims directly contravene the FBPA. Alcatraz’'s
FEPAR claim against Maid is premiged upon the notion that Alcatraz
should be able to charge its customers ten dellars or more abova
the retail ticket price for vouchers to ride on Maid*s tour boate
and that Alcatraz sheould not have to reveal Maid's retail price to

itz customers. It i1s also Alcatraz’e assertion that Maid should
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not be allowed to warn consumers that Alcatraz overcharged them or
sold them worthless vouchers. This is simply not the situation
the Georgia legislature contemplated when it enacted the FBPA.
Consumers of Maid tickets are protected from unfair or deceptive
acts if Alcatraz's claims are denied, not the cother way around.
The CTourt concludes that Alcatraz cannct state a claim under
the Ceorgia FBPA as a matter of law. Consequently, Maid's Motion
for Summary Judgment is GRANTED with respect to Alcatraz’s FEPA

counterclaim.

©. Attornev’'s Fees and Expenses

Maid asgerts that it is entitled to attorney’'s fees and
expenges pursuant to O.C.G.A. § 13-6-11. Alcatraz responds by
arguing that Maid failed te include a request for attorney’s fees
and expenses as a result of stubborn litigicusness in its
complaint., Alcatraz also argues that the gueastien of whether Maid
is entitled to attorney’s fees and expenses is a question for the
trier of fact, which Alcatraz asserts is the jury here.

0.C.G.A. § 13-6-11 permite an award of attorney's fees "where
the defendant has acted in bad faith, has been stubbornly
litigicue, or has caused the plaintiff unnecessary trouble and
expense." "Bad faith warranting an award of attorney fees must
have arisen out aof the transaction on which the cause of action is
predicated, as opposed to the resulting litigation.” SCOUARE

Tnt'l, Ltd. v, BBDO_ Atlapta, Inc., 455 F. Supp. 2d 1347, 1363

(N.D}.Ga. 2006} {internal guotation and citation omitted).
The Court rejects Alcatraz’s argument that Maid failed to

properly plead its ©.C.G.A. § 13-6-11 claim for attorney’s fees
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and expensez. Count II of Maid's complaint ie entitled “Based on
Defendants’ Bad Faith Actions, Maid Is Entitled to Attorney’s Fees
and Costs.” Compl. ([#1-2] at 14. The first full paragraph of
Count II s#tates: "Defendants have acted, or failed to ack, in bkad
faith, have been stubbornly litigiocus and/or have caused Maid
unnecessary trouble and expense. Accordingly, Maid is entitled to
recover attorney's fees and costs of litigation pursuant to
0.C,G.A. § 13-6-11.7 Id. at Y 75. Maid could not have stated its
U.C.G.BR. § 13-6-11 claim any mcre clearly.

The Court alseo rejects Alcatraz's argument that Maid's
request for attorney’s fees and expenses must be decided by a
jury. There are no issues of fact remaining in this c¢ase for
determination by a jury. The Court holds that Maid ie entitled to
judgment as a matter of law on all claims.

Furthermore, the Court finds that Alcatraz's and Windsor s
behavior following Maid s July 2%, 2005 termination of Alcatraz’'s
credit authorization was clearly stubbornly litigious. From Mr.
Windsor's emails threatening to sue Maid and seeking four million
dellars in damages, to the cowmplaints filed with the Attorneys
General and Better Business Bureaus, to Alcatraz’'s treatment of
Maid customers whoe sought refunds for the Alcatraz vouchers they
were unable to redeem at Maid‘s box office after July 29, 2005,
the Court finde it was BAlcatraz's and Windsor’s stubbornly
litigious actions that gave rise teo this litigation. This is a
straightforward, simple case that Alcatraz and Windsor have unduly
complicated and prolonged as a result of harboring hostile

perscnal feelings against Maid. It is and always has been obvious
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that Alcatraz has no right to force Maid to accept it ag its agent
for ticket sales,

Accordingly, the Court GRANTS Maid's Moticon for Summary
Judgment with respect to Maidfa C.C.G.A. § 13-6-11 claim for

attorney’'s fess and expenses.

V. Other Motions Pending

Alcatraz requested a hearing on the summary judgment motions
{#2237. Maid opposed Alcatraz’s reguest and argued that all
necessary evidence is before the Court. The Court finds that a
hearing is not necessary and hereby DENIES Alcatraz’'s reguest.

Maid has filed a Motion to Strike or, in the Alternatiwve,
Motion te Strike Portions of the Declarations of William Windsor,
Heriberto Riog and BSusan Moclck [#237%]. These declarations were
filed in supporxrt of Alcatraz’s response in opposition to Maid's
motion for summary judgment. Because the Court finds that these
declaraticns were not necessary for deciding the parties’ motions
fer gsummary judgment, the Court DISMISSES AS MOOT Maid's Motion to
Strike.

Zlcatraz has filed a Moticon for Clarification and Motion to
Strike the Declarations of Sandra Carlsen, Vanik Aloian, James
Lampman, Rose Devereaux and Holly Drouin [#243]. Because the
Court £inds that these declarations were not necessary for
deciding the parties’ motions for summary judgment, the Court
DISMIZSES AS MOOT Alcatraz’s Motion to Strike.

Maid alsec recently filed a Notice of Cbjection and Motion to
Strike the Reply &affidavit of Brian Raley [#250]. Maid argues

that EBrian Raley‘s affidavit, submitted as an attachment to
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Alcatraz’s reply [#249] to Maid’s response to Alcatraz’s Motion
for Clarification or Motion to Strike ([#243), 1s procedurally
barred because it was improperly filed. Just as the Court deems
Alcatraz’s Motion for Clarification and Motion to Strike to be
moot, the Court deems Maid’s Motion to Strike to be moot. Raley's
affidavit is not necessary for deciding the parties’ motions for
summary judgment. The Court hereby DISMISSES A5 MOCT Maid’s

Motion to Strike.

vI. Conclusion

For the foregoing reasong, Defendants’ Motion for Summary
Judgment (#1461 is DENIED. Plaintiffs* Motion for Summary
Judgment [#148] is GRANTELD. The Court hereby PERMANENTLY ENJOINS
Defendants Alcatraz Media, LLC, Alcatraz Media, Inc. and William
Windsor, and their affiliates *  from: selling indiwvidual??
vouchers, tickets, and/or e-tickets for Maid of the Mist boat
rides; from using Maid of the Mist's name or images to sell
individual wvouchers, tickets, and/or e-tickets for Maid of the
Migt boat rides; from participating in schemes to attempt to sell

individual veouchers, tickets, and/or e-tickets for Maid of the

“*Thie applies to all those acting in concert with Defendants
or any of Defendants. This includes, but is not limited to:
|| Reserve XL:; Round America, LLC; Everybedy Loves Travel, LLC;

Reserve 123; Take 5 Tours; 22 Tours; and those entities using
Reserve XL gsoftware to 8ell tours as agents of Alcatraz.

Brindividual" refers to the fact that the voucher/e-ticket
ig sold by itself, as opposed to being a part of a tour package.
I This Order does not permit the enjoined parties to sell multiple
nindividual" vouchers or e-tickets together.
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Mist boat rides; and from filing false reports with the Better
Business Bureaus of New York and Ontarioc. Defendants Alcatraz
Media, LLC, Alcatraz Media, Inc. and wWilliam Windsor and their
affiliates are not enjoined from selling tour packages through
Gray Line Tours of Toronto, Gray Line Tours of Buffalo, Gray Line
Tours of Niagara Falls, Gray Line Tours of New York, or Over the
Falla Tours which include Maid of the Mist tickets or wouchers.

With respect to Maid's 0.C.G.A, § 12-6-11 claim for attor-
ney’s fees and expenses, the Court DIRECTS Maid to file an
itemization of its claim for attorney’s fees and expenses within
twenty days of the date of this Order. Alcatraz shall have twenty
days thereafter to respond with any cobjections. Maid shall then
have ten days to reply. The Clerk is DIRECTED to rasubmit the
file immediately thereafter.

Defendants’ regquest for a hearing on the summary judgment
motions [#223) is DENIED. Plaintiffs’ Motion to Strike [#237] is
DISMISSED AS MOOT. Defendants® Motion for Leave bo File [#241]
and Motion for Clarificaticon and to Strike [#243] are DISMISSED AS
MOoOT Plaintiffs’ Motion to Strike Affidavit [#250] is DISMISSED
AE MOOT,

5C CORDERED, this 1 day of August, 2007.

K/Qﬂac —

CORINDA U. EVANS
UNITED STATES DISTRICT JUDCE
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